
IOWA VOTER REGISTRATION COMMISSION 

 
IN RE: 
LINN COUNTY AUDITOR JOEL D. MILLER, 
PRO SE, in his official capacity 
 
Complainant, 
 
v. 
 
IOWA SECRETARY OF STATE PAUL PATE, in 
his official capacity, 
 
Respondent. 
 

 
 
 
 

COMPLAINANT’S RESISTANCE TO 
RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

 COMES NOW, Complainant Linn County Auditor Joel D. Miller, and for his Resistance to 

Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss states as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 Complainant alleges that Iowa Secretary of State Paul Pate has violated Title III of the 

Help America Vote Act (“HAVA”) with respect to the security of the I-VOTERS voter registration 

database maintained by that office.  Federal law allows such challenges to be advanced in a 

state administrative proceeding, and Complainant makes his challenge pursuant to the 

administrative rules issued by the Secretary of State in compliance with federal law.  Before 

getting to the substance of the Complaint, the Secretary of State seeks to avoid it altogether by 

way of filing a motion to dismiss.  For the reasons stated herein, that motion should be denied 

in its entirety. 

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW 



The decision to grant a motion to dismiss is proper only when the petition, on its face, 

“shows no right of recovery under any state of facts.” Rieff v. Evans, 630 N.W.2d 278, 284 (Iowa 

2001) (citation omitted). “A motion to dismiss should not be liberally granted.” Id. 

Under Iowa’s rules of notice pleading, very little is required in a petition to survive a 

motion to dismiss. Rieff, 630 N.W.2d at 292. In considering a motion to dismiss, the petition 

must be construed in the light most favorable to the complainant. Smith v. Smith, 513 N.W.2d 

728, 730 (Iowa 1994). All doubts are resolved in complainant’s favor, and “the allegations of the 

petition are accepted as true.” Id. 

III. ARGUMENT 

To the extent Respondent alleges the Voter Registration Commission lacks jurisdiction 

to hear this matter, Complainant contends that the Commission has already determined it has 

the requisite jurisdiction.  

The director of elections within the office of the state commissioner of elections is 

required to “examine each complaint to determine whether it falls within the jurisdiction” of 

Iowa Admin. Code chapter 721—25, and may reject the complaint if it does not. Iowa Admin. 

Code r. 721—25.3(3). In this case, as asserted by Respondent, the director of elections 

forwarded the matter to the Voter Registration Commission to make that determination. The 

Commission, in its Notice of Hearing and Statement of Charges, filed on November 6, 2019, 

specifically determined that it had jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Iowa Code sections 

47.1(5) and 47.8(5) and Iowa Administrative Code chapter 721—25. 



Even if the Commission had not already determined its jurisdiction to hear this matter, 

Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss should fail. Complaints filed under chapter 721—25 must 

allege violations of Title III in a federal election. Iowa Admin. Code r. 721—25.2. Specifically, the 

complainant must allege that a violation of any provision of Title III of the Help America Vote 

Act of 2002, 42 U.S.C. 15481-15485 (hereinafter, “HAVA”), “has occurred, is occurring, or is 

about to occur in connection with a federal election.” Iowa Admin. Code r. 721—25.1(1). 

The Complaint in this matter, on its face, alleges that a violation of Title III of HAVA “has 

occurred, is occurring, or is about to occur in connection with a federal election.” Iowa Admin. 

Code r. 721—25.1(1). Accordingly, it should survive Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss. Iowa 

Admin. Code r. 721—25.3(3)(a). The complaint alleges that the I-Voters system, on which voter 

registration data is stored, and which is owned and operated by the State of Iowa, is “very old 

and potentially vulnerable to cyber threats.” (Complaint, July 16, 2019) The complaint further 

alleges that the Iowa Secretary of State’s Office has failed to take action to update or re-write 

the voter registration system, even after acknowledging that such updates to the system were 

needed and after receiving funding from the Iowa legislature, approved by the Governor, to do 

so. This failure, the Complainant alleges, violates provisions of HAVA that require states to 

follow standards of technological security. See 52 U.S.C. § 21083 (P.L. 107-252, Sec. 303(a)). In 

particular, “the appropriate state or local official shall provide adequate technological security 

measures to prevent the unauthorized access to the computerize list” of eligible voters. 52 

U.S.C. § 21083(a)(3). In addition, the law requires safeguards to ensure that voter registration 

records are accurate and updated regularly, including safeguards to ensure eligible voters are 

not removed in error from the official list of eligible voters. 52 U.S.C. § 21083(a)(4). 



Complainant intends to present facts at hearing to support the allegations in the 

complaint. He should not be foreclosed from doing so through a summary dismissal of his 

complaint. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

 WHEREFORE, Complainant respectfully requests that the Motion be denied for the 

reasons stated above. 
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